
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD MINUTES 
 THURSDAY, JANUARY 21, 2016 - 1:30 PM 
 CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
 
PRESENT: Chairman, Lawrence Lauffer; Vice Chairman, Honey Minuse; Members: Linda 
Hillman, Norman Wells, Don Croteau, Alternate Member #1, Richard Cahoy and Alternate Member 
#2, Ken Daige  Also Present: Planning and Development Director, Tim McGarry; Planner, Gayle 
Lafferty; Assistant City Attorney, Peggy Lyon and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo 
 
I. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A) Agenda Additions and/or Deletions 
 
None 
 
II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. Regular Meeting – November 19, 2015 
 
Mrs. Hillman referred to page two, the third paragraph, of the November 19, 2015 Planning and 
Zoning Board minutes.  She noted that “74” acres should be “0.74” acres.    
 
Mrs. Minuse made a motion to approve the minutes of the November 19, 2015 Planning and 
Zoning Board meeting as amended.  Mrs. Hillman seconded the motion and it passed 
unanimously. 
  
 B.   Regular Meeting – December 3, 2015 
 
Mr. Cahoy referred to the Annual Report that was approved by the Board at the December 3, 2015 
Planning and Zoning Board meeting.  He felt the address should be included in item 1) under 
approved site plans.   
 
Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, said staff would make that change. 
 
Ms. Croteau made a motion to approve the minutes of the December 3, 2015 Planning and 
Zoning Board meeting.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
III. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
IV. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 [Quasi-Judicial] 
 A. Conditional Use and Site Plan Application Submitted by St. Francis Manor 

to Construct Two New Housing Buildings (9 Units/Building) on the 
Northeast Corner of the Property, along with Parking, Drive Aisles and 
Landscaping at 1750 20th Avenue (#SP15-000015). 

 
The Chairman read the Conditional Use and Site Plan Application by title only. 
 

            1  01/21/16  P&Z 
 



There were no ex parte communications reported. 
 
The Deputy City Clerk swore in staff and all witnesses testifying for today’s public hearing en 
masse. 
 
Ms. Gayle Lafferty, Planner, went over staff’s report with the Board members (attached to the 
original minutes).  Staff recommends approval of the site plan and conditional use subject to 
conditions listed in staff’s report, along with an additional condition that the tree mitigation 
from tree removal permit #PR15000113 shall be installed and inspected prior to the Certificate 
of Occupancy (CO). 
 
Mrs. Minuse said the site plan shows that there are two existing dumpster enclosures facing 
what looks like a ditch and there is single-family residential located on the other side of the 
ditch.  She said dumpsters are not to be located on the side of a building that faces residential 
property.   
 
Ms. Lafferty said this site was originated in 1974, which at that time there were different 
conditions and requirements.  She said because they were existing, they were not part of the 
review process.     
 
Mrs. Minuse said the reason she questioned the dumpsters was because she could not see where 
the proposed building would have their dumpsters.  She asked would they be using the existing 
dumpsters.   
 
Ms. Lafferty said that is her understanding. 
 
Mr. Croteau asked have there been any complaints about the use of this property.   
 
Ms. Lafferty said that she didn’t recall ever having a complaint in the 16 years she has worked 
for the City.  She noted that the property was posted and the agenda was advertised and she did 
not receive any telephone calls about it. 
 
Mr. Daige asked is the bridge that crosses the canal on 20th Avenue under the control of St. 
Francis Manor.   
 
Mr. McGarry said it is under the control of Indian River Farms. 
 
Mr. Daige said the bridge has been closed for a while and he questioned who owned the road 
and he was told that it was an access point to St. Francis Manor.  He said that this does not have 
anything to do with this application, but he would like to know if they were going to use the 
bridge or if it was going to stay closed.   
 
Mr. John Blum, of Carter and Associates, said that he has been sworn in.  He said that he was 
present representing the applicant.  He referred to the question regarding the dumpsters and 
reported that the residents would be using them.  There are no proposed new dumpsters 
associated with the new buildings.  He said there is a deep canal that separates the dumpsters 
from the single family residential, which is heavily vegetated.  He said the bridge that crosses 
20th Avenue is owned by Indian River County and the canal is owned by Indian River Farms.  
He said the bridge is closed because there is a failure in the bridge. 
 

            2  01/21/16  P&Z 
 



The Chairman opened and closed the public hearing at 1:50 p.m., with no one wishing to be 
heard. 
 
Mr. Lauffer said that he knows a little about the background of St. Francis Manor and 
everything that he has heard about it has been very positive for the community.  He encouraged 
the Board to approve the application.   
 
Mr. Croteau said this community needs low income housing, especially for the elderly 
population.  He felt this was a positive for the community and he fully supported it.  
 
Mr. Croteau made a motion that the Board accepts staff’s recommendation to approve 
Application #SP15-000015 with the conditions listed in staff’s report along with the 
additional condition of tree mitigation.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it passed 5-
0 with Mr. Wells voting yes, Mrs. Hillman yes, Mr. Croteau yes, Mrs. Minuse yes, and Mr. 
Lauffer yes. 
 

 [Quasi-Judicial] 
 B. Conditional Use and Site Plan Application Submitted by Christ by the Sea 

United Methodist Church, Inc., for a Change of Use from Single-Family 
Residential to Church Administrative Offices, and  Provide Landscaping to 
meet Conditional Use Criteria at 615 Greytwig Road (#SP15-000018). 

 
The Chairman read the Conditional Use and Site Plan Application by title only. 
 
There were no ex parte communications reported. 
 
The Deputy City Clerk swore in staff and all witnesses testifying for today’s public hearing en 
masse. 
 
Ms. Lafferty went over staff’s report with the Board members (attached to the original minutes).  
Staff recommends approval of the site plan and conditional use subject to conditions listed in staff’s 
report along with an additional condition that the landscape easement needs to be recorded in the 
County records and a copy provided to the City within 30 days. 
 
Mrs. Minuse said on the 20-foot buffer, five feet already exists and is recorded with the property to 
the west of this site.  She asked is the property owner responsible for maintaining it as a buffer.   
 
Mr. McGarry said there is an easement and they are not to interfere with the landscaping of it.  But, if 
the buffer is not maintained as a buffer the church would be held responsible.     
 
Mrs. Minuse asked would that be written as a responsibility of the church. 
 
Mr. Bruce Barkett, Attorney representing the applicant, said that Mr. Latoni is their neighbor and he 
has been very cooperative.  Mr. Barkett said that his firm wrote the easement document, which 
makes the church responsible for the landscaping and maintenance of the easement.   
 
Mrs. Minuse referred to the condition #5, which states, Unity of Title should be obtained to combine 
Lots 9, 10, and 11 and recorded in Indian River County records with a copy to the Planning and 
Development Department within 30 days of the effective date of this development order.  She asked 
how that impacts the buffer, the administrative property and the parking lot. 
 

            3  01/21/16  P&Z 
 



Mr. McGarry explained that this ties all the properties together.  
 
Mr. Lauffer asked if this is approved, can they modify the structure, such as adding a second story. 
 
Mr. McGarry said if it reaches the threshold they might have to come back before the Board 
depending on the square footage. 
 
Mr. Lauffer said they could modify the exterior of the building. 
 
Mr. McGarry said that is correct, but they would have to keep it looking as a single-family house. 
 
Mrs. Hillman asked does the church have any intention of purchasing other homes to make another 
parking lot. 
 
Mr. Barkett did not know. 
 
Mrs. Hillman said the reason for her question was because one of the homeowners who attended the 
neighborhood meeting asked the same question and a church member said that they had no interest in 
becoming a “mega” church.  She said that would be a main concern of the neighborhood if more 
homes were purchased to extend the parking lot.     
 
The Chairman opened the public hearing at 2:06 p.m. 
 
At this time, the Deputy City Clerk swore in Mr. Duncan Clements.   
 
Mr. Clements felt it was detrimental to the community to take out a residential house.  He said there 
are businesses on the Lagoon side and on the oceanside, but this is primarily a residential area.  He 
thought there was a concern from some of the homeowners regarding the value of their home if they 
have offices within their community.   
 
Mr. Lauffer asked Mr. Clements if he lives near the church. 
 
Mr. Clements said that he lives on Fiddlewood opposite of the church.  He said that he does not have 
a problem with the church as they are good neighbors.  But, he did have a problem with taking a 
residential home that could house a family that would be a part of the community and use the 
schools, etc.  He said that he didn’t see the reason why they couldn’t use the house as it is as an 
office and then if a time comes that they don’t want it, it could be sold as a house. 
 
Mr. Barkett said the house is not going to be demolished or reconstructed.  The house is going to 
remain a house, but used as administrative offices for the church. 
 
Mr. Clements did not think it was a good move to intermingle businesses in prominent residential 
areas. 
 
Mr. Lauffer asked Mr. Clements if he felt the church was a detriment to property values.  
 
Mr. Clements said the way the church is currently, it is not a detriment.  But, like anything else if 
things grow it could become a detriment as they would be turning a residential area into a business 
area. 
 
Mrs. Minuse said there was not any opposition to this at the neighborhood meeting.  The focus 

            4  01/21/16  P&Z 
 



seemed to be on landscaped buffering from the community.  She asked Mr. Clements if adequate 
buffering would help with his concerns.     
 
Mr. Clements said that he was sure the landscaping would be fine; it is the principle of the fact that 
they would be taking away a residential home.     
 
Mr. Daige said the church owns the house and under the uses they are allowed to do what they are 
doing. 
 
At this time, the Deputy City Clerk swore in Mr. Kim Pickering.   
 
Mr. Pickering said that he lives to the north of the church property.  He said that he was not in town 
when the neighborhood meeting was held.  He asked what is happening with the six (6) large Oak 
Trees.  He was told that the trees would remain on the property.  He said as long as the trees remain 
then he is in favor of the project. 
 
The Chairman closed the public hearing at 2:17 p.m., with no one else wishing to be heard. 
 
Ms. Lafferty wanted to make sure it was understood that this was not going to be a business office, 
but an administrative office for the church, which is a permitted conditional use in the R-1A zoning 
strict. 
 
Mr. Croteau made a motion that the Board accepts staff’s recommendation to approve 
Application # SP15-000018 with the conditions listed in staff’s report along with the additional 
condition that the landscape easement be recorded.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it 
passed 5-0 with Mr. Wells voting yes, Mrs. Hillman yes, Mr. Croteau yes, Mrs. Minuse yes, 
and Mr. Lauffer yes. 
 
V. PLANNING DEPARTMENT MATTERS 
 
Mr. McGarry reported that they probably would be cancelling their next meeting as they currently do 
not have any items for the agenda.  He said that staff is working steadily on the Comprehensive Plan 
and he hoped to start holding workshop meetings sometime in March.   He reported that he has been 
attending meetings of the Cultural Arts Village and they are looking into doing an Overlay Zone in 
the district. 
 
 VI. BOARD MEMBERS’ MATTERS 
 
None 
 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s meeting adjourned at 2:31 p.m. 
 
/sp 

            5  01/21/16  P&Z 
 


	PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD MINUTES
	 THURSDAY, JANUARY 21, 2016 - 1:30 PM
	 CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA
	PRESENT: Chairman, Lawrence Lauffer; Vice Chairman, Honey Minuse; Members: Linda Hillman, Norman Wells, Don Croteau, Alternate Member #1, Richard Cahoy and Alternate Member #2, Ken Daige  Also Present: Planning and Development Director, Tim McGarry; Planner, Gayle Lafferty; Assistant City Attorney, Peggy Lyon and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo
	I. PRELIMINARY MATTERS
	A) Agenda Additions and/or Deletions
	None
	II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Regular Meeting – November 19, 2015
	Mrs. Hillman referred to page two, the third paragraph, of the November 19, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board minutes.  She noted that “74” acres should be “0.74” acres.   
	Mrs. Minuse made a motion to approve the minutes of the November 19, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board meeting as amended.  Mrs. Hillman seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	 B.   Regular Meeting – December 3, 2015
	Mr. Cahoy referred to the Annual Report that was approved by the Board at the December 3, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.  He felt the address should be included in item 1) under approved site plans.  
	Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, said staff would make that change.
	Ms. Croteau made a motion to approve the minutes of the December 3, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	III. PUBLIC COMMENT
	None
	IV. PUBLIC HEARING
	 [Quasi-Judicial]
	 A. Conditional Use and Site Plan Application Submitted by St. Francis Manor to Construct Two New Housing Buildings (9 Units/Building) on the Northeast Corner of the Property, along with Parking, Drive Aisles and Landscaping at 1750 20th Avenue (#SP15-000015).
	The Chairman read the Conditional Use and Site Plan Application by title only.
	There were no ex parte communications reported.
	The Deputy City Clerk swore in staff and all witnesses testifying for today’s public hearing en masse.
	Ms. Gayle Lafferty, Planner, went over staff’s report with the Board members (attached to the original minutes).  Staff recommends approval of the site plan and conditional use subject to conditions listed in staff’s report, along with an additional condition that the tree mitigation from tree removal permit #PR15000113 shall be installed and inspected prior to the Certificate of Occupancy (CO).
	Mrs. Minuse said the site plan shows that there are two existing dumpster enclosures facing what looks like a ditch and there is single-family residential located on the other side of the ditch.  She said dumpsters are not to be located on the side of a building that faces residential property.  
	Ms. Lafferty said this site was originated in 1974, which at that time there were different conditions and requirements.  She said because they were existing, they were not part of the review process.    
	Mrs. Minuse said the reason she questioned the dumpsters was because she could not see where the proposed building would have their dumpsters.  She asked would they be using the existing dumpsters.  
	Ms. Lafferty said that is her understanding.
	Mr. Croteau asked have there been any complaints about the use of this property.  
	Ms. Lafferty said that she didn’t recall ever having a complaint in the 16 years she has worked for the City.  She noted that the property was posted and the agenda was advertised and she did not receive any telephone calls about it.
	Mr. Daige asked is the bridge that crosses the canal on 20th Avenue under the control of St. Francis Manor.  
	Mr. McGarry said it is under the control of Indian River Farms.
	Mr. Daige said the bridge has been closed for a while and he questioned who owned the road and he was told that it was an access point to St. Francis Manor.  He said that this does not have anything to do with this application, but he would like to know if they were going to use the bridge or if it was going to stay closed.  
	Mr. John Blum, of Carter and Associates, said that he has been sworn in.  He said that he was present representing the applicant.  He referred to the question regarding the dumpsters and reported that the residents would be using them.  There are no proposed new dumpsters associated with the new buildings.  He said there is a deep canal that separates the dumpsters from the single family residential, which is heavily vegetated.  He said the bridge that crosses 20th Avenue is owned by Indian River County and the canal is owned by Indian River Farms.  He said the bridge is closed because there is a failure in the bridge.
	The Chairman opened and closed the public hearing at 1:50 p.m., with no one wishing to be heard.
	Mr. Lauffer said that he knows a little about the background of St. Francis Manor and everything that he has heard about it has been very positive for the community.  He encouraged the Board to approve the application.  
	Mr. Croteau said this community needs low income housing, especially for the elderly population.  He felt this was a positive for the community and he fully supported it. 
	Mr. Croteau made a motion that the Board accepts staff’s recommendation to approve Application #SP15-000015 with the conditions listed in staff’s report along with the additional condition of tree mitigation.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it passed 5-0 with Mr. Wells voting yes, Mrs. Hillman yes, Mr. Croteau yes, Mrs. Minuse yes, and Mr. Lauffer yes.
	 [Quasi-Judicial]
	 B. Conditional Use and Site Plan Application Submitted by Christ by the Sea United Methodist Church, Inc., for a Change of Use from Single-Family Residential to Church Administrative Offices, and  Provide Landscaping to meet Conditional Use Criteria at 615 Greytwig Road (#SP15000018).
	The Chairman read the Conditional Use and Site Plan Application by title only.
	There were no ex parte communications reported.
	The Deputy City Clerk swore in staff and all witnesses testifying for today’s public hearing en masse.
	Ms. Lafferty went over staff’s report with the Board members (attached to the original minutes).  Staff recommends approval of the site plan and conditional use subject to conditions listed in staff’s report along with an additional condition that the landscape easement needs to be recorded in the County records and a copy provided to the City within 30 days.
	Mrs. Minuse said on the 20-foot buffer, five feet already exists and is recorded with the property to the west of this site.  She asked is the property owner responsible for maintaining it as a buffer.  
	Mr. McGarry said there is an easement and they are not to interfere with the landscaping of it.  But, if the buffer is not maintained as a buffer the church would be held responsible.    
	Mrs. Minuse asked would that be written as a responsibility of the church.
	Mr. Bruce Barkett, Attorney representing the applicant, said that Mr. Latoni is their neighbor and he has been very cooperative.  Mr. Barkett said that his firm wrote the easement document, which makes the church responsible for the landscaping and maintenance of the easement.  
	Mrs. Minuse referred to the condition #5, which states, Unity of Title should be obtained to combine Lots 9, 10, and 11 and recorded in Indian River County records with a copy to the Planning and Development Department within 30 days of the effective date of this development order.  She asked how that impacts the buffer, the administrative property and the parking lot.
	Mr. McGarry explained that this ties all the properties together. 
	Mr. Lauffer asked if this is approved, can they modify the structure, such as adding a second story.
	Mr. McGarry said if it reaches the threshold they might have to come back before the Board depending on the square footage.
	Mr. Lauffer said they could modify the exterior of the building.
	Mr. McGarry said that is correct, but they would have to keep it looking as a single-family house.
	Mrs. Hillman asked does the church have any intention of purchasing other homes to make another parking lot.
	Mr. Barkett did not know.
	Mrs. Hillman said the reason for her question was because one of the homeowners who attended the neighborhood meeting asked the same question and a church member said that they had no interest in becoming a “mega” church.  She said that would be a main concern of the neighborhood if more homes were purchased to extend the parking lot.    
	The Chairman opened the public hearing at 2:06 p.m.
	At this time, the Deputy City Clerk swore in Mr. Duncan Clements.  
	Mr. Clements felt it was detrimental to the community to take out a residential house.  He said there are businesses on the Lagoon side and on the oceanside, but this is primarily a residential area.  He thought there was a concern from some of the homeowners regarding the value of their home if they have offices within their community.  
	Mr. Lauffer asked Mr. Clements if he lives near the church.
	Mr. Clements said that he lives on Fiddlewood opposite of the church.  He said that he does not have a problem with the church as they are good neighbors.  But, he did have a problem with taking a residential home that could house a family that would be a part of the community and use the schools, etc.  He said that he didn’t see the reason why they couldn’t use the house as it is as an office and then if a time comes that they don’t want it, it could be sold as a house.
	Mr. Barkett said the house is not going to be demolished or reconstructed.  The house is going to remain a house, but used as administrative offices for the church.
	Mr. Clements did not think it was a good move to intermingle businesses in prominent residential areas.
	Mr. Lauffer asked Mr. Clements if he felt the church was a detriment to property values. 
	Mr. Clements said the way the church is currently, it is not a detriment.  But, like anything else if things grow it could become a detriment as they would be turning a residential area into a business area.
	Mrs. Minuse said there was not any opposition to this at the neighborhood meeting.  The focus seemed to be on landscaped buffering from the community.  She asked Mr. Clements if adequate buffering would help with his concerns.    
	Mr. Clements said that he was sure the landscaping would be fine; it is the principle of the fact that they would be taking away a residential home.    
	Mr. Daige said the church owns the house and under the uses they are allowed to do what they are doing.
	At this time, the Deputy City Clerk swore in Mr. Kim Pickering.  
	Mr. Pickering said that he lives to the north of the church property.  He said that he was not in town when the neighborhood meeting was held.  He asked what is happening with the six (6) large Oak Trees.  He was told that the trees would remain on the property.  He said as long as the trees remain then he is in favor of the project.
	The Chairman closed the public hearing at 2:17 p.m., with no one else wishing to be heard.
	Ms. Lafferty wanted to make sure it was understood that this was not going to be a business office, but an administrative office for the church, which is a permitted conditional use in the R-1A zoning strict.
	Mr. Croteau made a motion that the Board accepts staff’s recommendation to approve Application # SP15000018 with the conditions listed in staff’s report along with the additional condition that the landscape easement be recorded.  Mrs. Minuse seconded the motion and it passed 5-0 with Mr. Wells voting yes, Mrs. Hillman yes, Mr. Croteau yes, Mrs. Minuse yes, and Mr. Lauffer yes.
	V. PLANNING DEPARTMENT MATTERS
	Mr. McGarry reported that they probably would be cancelling their next meeting as they currently do not have any items for the agenda.  He said that staff is working steadily on the Comprehensive Plan and he hoped to start holding workshop meetings sometime in March.   He reported that he has been attending meetings of the Cultural Arts Village and they are looking into doing an Overlay Zone in the district.
	 VI. BOARD MEMBERS’ MATTERS
	None
	VII. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s meeting adjourned at 2:31 p.m.
	/sp


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


